
CITY HALL • 100 STATE STREET • BELOIT, WI 53511 

**Please note that, upon reasonable notice, at least 24 hours in advance, efforts will be made to accommodate 
the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services.  For additional information to 
request this service, please contact the City Clerk's Office at 364-6680, 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511 

 
 

MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 
Beloit City Plan Commission 

Wednesday, February 18, 2015 at 7:00 PM 
The Forum 

Beloit City Hall, First Floor 
100 State Street, Beloit 

1. Call to Order and Roll Call 

2. Approval of the Minutes of the February 4, 2015 Meeting 

3. Conditional Use Permit – 2747 Milwaukee Road – Buffalo Wild Wings 
Public hearing, review and consideration of Conditional Use Permit to allow an outdoor 
seating area and the indoor and outdoor sales, possession and consumption of alcohol 
in a C-2, Neighborhood Commercial District, for the property located at 2747 
Milwaukee Road 

4. Sale of Right-of-Way to Rock County for the Inman Parkway Extension 
Review and consideration of a request by Rock County to acquire right-of-way for the 
Inman Parkway Extension project 

5. Status Report on Prior Plan Commission Items 

6. Adjournment 

If you are unable to attend this meeting, please contact Ashley Rosenbaum in the Planning 
Office at 364-6700 no later than 4:00 PM the day before the meeting. 

Notice Mailed:  February 13, 2015 Approved: Julie Christensen, Community 
Development Director 



CITY HALL • 100 STATE STREET • BELOIT, WI 53511 

Page 1 of 4 
 

 
MINUTES 

BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
Wednesday, February 4, 2015  

The Forum, Beloit City Hall 
100 State Street, Beloit 

1. Call to Order and Roll Call 
Commissioner Faragher called the meeting to order at 7:02 PM.  Julie Christensen called 
the roll.  Present was Commissioners Ruster, Finnegan, Tinder, Moore and Mathis.    
Commissioners Johnson and Kincaid were absent.   
 

2. Approval of the Minutes of the January 21, 2015 Meeting 
Commissioner Tinder moved and Commissioner Ruster seconded a motion to approve the 
January 21, 2015 minutes.  The minutes were approved. (6-0) 
 

3. Conditional Use Permit – 412 Liberty Avenue – Liberty Mart 
Public hearing, review and consideration of a Conditional Use Permit to allow indoor 
alcohol sales in a C-2, Neighborhood Commercial District, for the property located at 412 
Liberty Avenue  
 
Julie Christensen summarized the Staff Report and Staff Recommendation. 
 
Chairperson Faragher opened the Public Hearing.   
 
Lutfi Qutoum, the applicant, described his experience with operating the store and 
explained that there were not many liquor stores nearby.  He went on to explain that the 
convenience stores nearby only sell beer, and he is seeking to sell beer, wine and liquor. 
 
Commissioner Faragher outlined the history of the store related to liquor sales and asked if 
the applicant was going to address the problems the store has had in the past.   Mr. 
Qutoum indicated that he has purchased a machine that will show whether a person is old 
enough to buy alcohol and tobacco and whether the ID is real or fake. 
 
Commissioner Faragher asked if the existing parking would be sufficient for the business.  
Lutfi Qutoum indicated that parking has not been a problem in the past.  He explained that 
the only problem they have had is with tagging.  At those times, sometimes others in the 
neighborhood were tagged as well. 
 



Page 2 of 4 

 

Commissioner Faragher asked how the applicant was going to deal with litter, and Mr. 
Qutoum indicated that they would address litter if it happens. 
 
Commissioner Faragher asked about surveillance around the store.  Mr. Qutoum explained 
the layout of the store and the location of cameras.  He also indicated that customers have 
been asking them to sell liquor. 
 
Commissioner Faragher asked if the applicant was comfortable with the conditions.  Mr. 
Qutoum replied that he was. 
 
Commissioner Mathis asked how long the store had been without liquor sales.  Mr. 
Qutoum replied since 2011. 
 
Commissioner Mathis asked what percentage sales will increase if liquor sales are added. 
Mr. Qutoum indicated that it would increase a lot, especially around the holidays, probably 
around 80 percent. 
 
Commissioner Mathis asked if the applicant felt the measures he was taking were 
adequate.  Mr. Qutoum replied affirmatively. 
 
Commissioner Faragher explained that he was concerned about the survey results, that 
almost 50 percent of the neighbors were opposed. Commissioner Ruster indicated that she 
agreed. 
 
Commissioner Moore asked about the process for the liquor license.  Julie Christensen 
explained the process. 
 
Commissioner Ruster asked what the Alcohol Committee looks at when approving liquor 
licenses.  Julie Christensen explained that she wasn’t completely sure what the Alcohol 
Committee looks at when evaluating the license.  
 
Commissioner Tinder expressed concern about having liquor sales in a residential setting.  
If approved, he thought that others who had lost their licenses might come forward and 
apply. 
 
Commissioner Mathis moved to approve the Conditional Use Permit and Commissioner 
Finnegan seconded the motion.  The motion failed. (4-2) 
 

4. Relocation Order for Easements – Milwaukee Road Corridor Improvements 
Review and consideration of a Relocation Order for a variety of permanent and temporary 
easements to be established throughout the Milwaukee Road Corridor  
 
Ms. Christensen summarized the Staff Report and Staff Recommendation. 
 



Page 3 of 4 

 

Jason Dupuis, City of Beloit Project Engineer, outlined the project.  He indicated that the 
plans are 90 percent complete.  Easements are needed for new sidewalks being added 
along the west side of Cranston Road, near the entry of Wal-Mart, and along Branigan 
Road.   He explained that staff had a preliminary meeting with the owners of the property 
and that this project ties into the I-39/I-90 highway project. 
 
Commissioner Moore asked if there were plans for sidewalks for the children walking to 
the new Intermediate School.  She expressed concern about kids darting across Milwaukee 
Road.  Jason Dupuis indicated that the project does not extend that far; it ends at Lee Lane. 
 
Commissioner Ruster asked why we are installing sidewalks on a highway.  Mr. Dupuis 
explained those pedestrians are already walking across Milwaukee Road, from the hotels to 
the retail and restaurants.  The City is trying to provide safe pedestrian travel.  Part of the 
Interstate project will include some pedestrian/bike improvements.  The plan is to connect 
to those improvements. 
 
City Engineer, Mike Flesch, outlined the interstate project.  The sidewalk system is intended 
to remove car/pedestrian conflicts.  The goal is to get people safely where they need to be.  
The State and Federal governments want complete streets, which includes bike and 
pedestrian connections. 
 
Commissioner Faragher indicated that it has been difficult to cross Milwaukee Road.  Mike 
Flesch explained that the City had applied for a grant for a pedestrian path from Cranston 
Road to White Avenue but that we weren’t awarded the grant.  He explained that the 
project is on the radar, and the City will try to find funding for this project.  He indicated 
the Cancer Center put in sidewalks, and the school has some sidewalks. 
 
Commissioner Mathis asked if there would be lighting as part of this project.  Jason Dupuis 
indicated that Phase 1 will not have lighting, but Phase 2 will have lighting.  Commissioner 
Mathis asked when Phase 2 would happen.  Mike Flesch indicated that it would happen 
when funding was available.  Jason Dupuis explained that the intersections are lit, and that 
in the future, lighting improvements will be done. 
 
Commissioner Ruster asked what lighting improvements are included in Phase 2.  Mr. 
Dupuis explained that the lights will be installed with the new lighting standards which 
include the black poles, updating the signal heads, LED lights, and flashing yellow arrows. 
 
Commissioner Tinder moved to approve the Relocation Order and Commissioner Moore 
seconded the motion.  The motion was approved.  (6-0) 
 



Page 4 of 4 

 

5. Status Report on Prior Plan Commission Items 
Julie Christensen indicated there was nothing to report.  The Comprehensive Plan 
Amendment and the Zoning Map Amendment in the Gateway are in the public review 
period and will not be acted on by City Council until March. 

6. Adjournment  
The meeting adjourned at 7:35 PM.  



CITY OF BELOIT 

REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
 
 
Meeting Date: February 18, 2015 
 

Agenda Item: 3 File Number: CU-2014-10 

Applicant: Blazin Wings, Inc. 
 

Owner: Morgan Square 2 LLC Location: 2747 Milwaukee Road 

Existing Zoning: C-2, Neighborhood 
Commercial District, & MRO, 
Milwaukee Road Overlay District 

Existing Land Use: Vacant Bar & 
Restaurant 

Parcel Size:  1.3315 Acres 

 
 
Request Overview/Background Information: 
Blazin Wings, Inc. has filed an application for a Conditional Use Permit to allow an outdoor seating area and indoor & 
outdoor sales, possession, & consumption of alcohol in a C-2, Neighborhood Commercial District, for the property located 
at 2747 Milwaukee Road. The attached Location and Zoning Map shows the location of the parcel involved in this 
application. The adjacent zoning and land uses are as follows: 
 North: PUD, Planned Unit Development; Morgan Square 
 South: C-3, Community Commercial District; Auto Center 
 East: C-2, Neighborhood Commercial District; Retail Store 
 West: PUD, Planned Unit Development; Morgan Square 
 
 
Key Issues: 

 This property was previously the site of Atlanta Bread. It is currently being renovated to become Buffalo Wild 
Wings. An outdoor seating area has been proposed, along with indoor & outdoor sales, possession, & 
consumption of alcohol. 

 Site Plan Review is not required for this site. Architectural Review has been completed for exterior façade 
renovations and signage for the site. 

 The applicant has proposed a 12’ x 67’ outdoor seating area on the west side of the building. This will be 
enclosed by a 3’ concrete wall. It will also be covered. 

 The proposed outdoor seating area will hold 18 tables and 64 chairs. No landscaping has been proposed. There 
will be two (2) alarmed emergency gates at either end of the patio area.  

 The minimum parking requirement for the property is 50% of seating capacity. With that, 107 parking stalls are 
required based on the proposed indoor & outdoor seating capacity. There are only 90 stalls provided on-site. A 
shared parking agreement for the 17 additional required stalls is being negotiated at this time and a condition of 
approval has been added to reflect this. 

 Section 4-704 of the Zoning Ordinance states that outdoor seating areas for restaurants are only allowed if 
reviewed and approved in accordance with the Conditional Use Permit review procedures. Section 6.1 of the 
same code specifies liquor sales as a Conditional Use in the C-2 zoning district.  

 The City’s Review Agents have reviewed this application. No comments were received. 
 The attached Public Notice was sent to four (4) nearby property owners. No comments were received.  
 Findings of Fact 

Based on Section 2-504 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Plan Commission shall make a recommendation based 
on the following considerations: 

a. Whether the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the conditional use will be detrimental to or 
endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 

 Subject to certain conditions of approval, the proposed outdoor seating area will not be 
detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare. 

b. Whether the conditional use will be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for purposes already permitted; 

 The proposed outdoor seating area is surrounded by other commercial uses. Subject to 
certain conditions of approval, specifically the music time limit, these properties will not be 
affected by the outdoor seating area.  

c. Whether the conditional use will substantially diminish or impair property values within the 
neighborhood of the subject property; 

 The proposed uses will not diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood. The 
renovation of the site, including the addition of the outdoor seating area, is expected to have 
a positive impact on the neighborhood.  



d. Whether the establishment of the conditional use will impede the normal and orderly development 
and improvement of the surrounding property; 

 Not Applicable. 
e. Whether the exterior architectural design or site layout of the proposed conditional use is so dissimilar 

or otherwise incompatible with existing or proposed development in the immediate neighborhood that 
it will cause a depreciation in property values; 

 The proposed architectural design and site layout are compatible with existing properties in 
the neighborhood.  

f. Whether adequate utilities, access roads, drainage or other necessary facilities will be available to 
serve the proposed use at the time of its occupancy or use; 

 Adequate facilities and infrastructure are available to serve the conditional use. 
g. Whether adequate measures will be taken to minimize traffic congestion; and  

 With a shared parking agreement, there will be enough off-street parking available to serve 
the proposed use of the subject property. The existing traffic infrastructure and access to the 
site will minimize traffic congestion.  

h. Whether the conditional use will comply with all applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 The conditional uses will comply with all other applicable regulations of the Zoning 
Ordinance. 

 
 
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:  
The City’s Comprehensive Plan recommends Community Commercial for the subject property. Consideration of this 
request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5. 
 

Sustainability: 
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A 
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A 

 

Staff Recommendation: 
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends approval of a Conditional Use Permit to allow an outdoor 
seating area and indoor & outdoor sales, possession, & consumption of alcohol in a C-2, Neighborhood Commercial 
District, for the property located at 2747 Milwaukee Road, based on the above Findings of Fact and subject to the 
following conditions: 

1. This Conditional Use Permit authorizes a 12’ x 67’ outdoor seating area on the west side of the existing building 
shown in the application attachments and the sale, possession, & consumption of alcohol at the subject property. 

2. Prior to the establishment of the conditional uses, the applicant shall receive a liquor license for both indoor & 
outdoor sales. 

3. Prior to the establishment of the conditional uses, the applicant shall provide proof of a shared parking agreement 
for 17 additional parking stalls.  

4. Before construction begins, the applicant shall obtain a Building Permit. 
5. The maximum capacity of the outdoor seating area shall be 64 persons. This maximum capacity shall be posted 

inside the building and within the outdoor seating area. The door leading to the outdoor seating area shall be 
marked as an exit and the path of egress shall remain clear at all times. 

6. The applicant shall provide a visible and/or audible fire alarm within the outdoor seating area. 
7. Music may not be played in the outdoor seating area after 10:00 PM. 
8. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved by the Plan Commission 

and City Council by amending this Conditional Use Permit. The Planning and Building Services Director may 
approve minor changes administratively. 

 

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A 
 

Attachments: Location & Zoning Map, Site Photos, Application, Site Plans, Public Notice, and Mailing List.  





 
 

 

 

 

 

 







 
 

 



 



 

 



 

 
 

 



 

CITY OF BELOIT 

REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
 
 
Meeting Date: February 18, 2015 
 

Agenda Item: 4 
 

File Number: RPB-2015-04 

Request: Sale of Right-of-Way to 
Rock County 

Owner: City of Beloit 
 

Location: Inman Parkway 
(Unimproved) 

 
 
Request Overview/Background Information: 
As part of the Inman Parkway (CTH “BT”) Extension Project, Rock County will be acquiring 4.24 acres of existing public 
right-of-way from the City of Beloit as shown on the attached Plat. The sale of land for roadway purposes is required to be 
referred to and reviewed by the Plan Commission in accordance with Section 62.23(5) of Wisconsin Statutes. 
 
 
Key Issues: 

 This roadway extension project is being led by Rock County and involves a new arterial roadway connection 
between Prairie Avenue and Shopiere Road. The acquisition of right-of-way and private property is underway. 

 The right-of-way being sold is an irregular piece of undeveloped land that extends from Prairie Avenue to the city 
limits. 

 The City Attorney and City Engineer have reviewed and approved the attached conveyance documents. 
 As shown on the attached map, this project will improve the roadway network in the northern part of the City while 

creating new street frontage for existing landlocked properties, and may spur additional development. 
 
 
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:  

 The Comprehensive Plan recommends the Inman Parkway extension as a “Future Major Collector/Arterial Road.” 
 Consideration of this request supports Strategic Goal #5. 

  

Sustainability: 
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A 
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A 

 

Staff Recommendation: 
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the sale of 4.24 acres of existing public right-of-way 
to Rock County, which is necessary for the Inman Parkway (CTH “BT”) Extension Project. 
 

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: The proposed deed contemplates a price of $100. 
 

Attachments: Location Map, Relocation Order Plat, and Warranty Deed 
 



  



 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 
 

 

 

 



 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 
 


